Community-based approaches

A STAP Information Note

November 2024



the Global Environment Facility



Community-based approaches. A STAP Information Note

Table of Contents	
1. Introduction	1
2. Benefits and challenges of community-based approaches	3
2.1. Benefits	3
2.2. Challenges	4
3. When to use community-based approaches and guiding principles	5
3.1. When to use a community-based approach	5
3.2. Guiding principles for project design and implementation	6
3.2.1. Project design	6
3.2.2. Project implementation	6
4. Further considerations	7
References	7

1 Introduction

The Global Environment Facility (GEF) Independent Evaluation Office (IEO)'s *Evaluation of Community-Based Approaches at the GEF*,¹ concluded that:

"Projects that adopt a community-based approach are associated with higher outcome ratings than the overall GEF portfolio... with more frequent achievement of improved environmental conditions...as well as broader adoption and socioeconomic co-benefits related to resilience, livelihoods improvement, poverty reduction, governance, and empowerment."

The IEO report found that the six dimensions of good community-based approach (CBA) practices (Box 1) were not comprehensively utilized, noting that:

"CBA projects are in partial alignment with good practice, with some improvements in recently designed projects relative to older projects."

Box 1: Elements of good CBA practices identified in the IEO report

The IEO report adopted a framework that comprised six dimensions of good CBA practices:

- Devolved decision-making
- Devolved financial and technical resources
- Incorporation of local institutions and customs
- Legitimacy in the eyes of users
- Accountability of implementors to users
- Human rights and equality

The report further noted that:

"The GEF project cycle presents some challenges for implementing CBA projects, both in terms of involving local stakeholders in design, and in allowing enough time to see results before project close."

The report recommended that *"the GEF Secretariat, together with the GEF STAP, should provide more clarity and guidance on when and how CBAs can be used in GEF projects....and appropriate guidance to facilitate the use of CBAs."*

The GEF management response said that:

"The GEF Secretariat will seek further advice from STAP on opportunities to further promote the use of CBA in GEF projects and programs as appropriate."

This information note presents the response of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel (STAP) to this recommendation. It draws on the latest research on CBAs and previous STAP reports, including those on local commons for global benefits,² alternative livelihoods,³ multi-stakeholder dialogue,⁴ and enabling elements of good project design.⁵ It highlights the benefits and challenges of CBAs, suggests criteria for adopting CBAs drawn from several sources,⁶ and identifies issues for further consideration. The note is intended to help GEF agencies in designing projects and the GEF Secretariat in reviewing proposals.

The GEF has a long history of using CBAs to achieve environmental outcomes across its diverse focal areas and special programs, such as the Inclusive Conservation Initiative and the Small Grants Programme. Research indicates that CBAs can increase the effectiveness, efficiency, and durability of GEF projects,⁷ confirming the IEO's findings. Beyond the GEF, CBAs are widely used for sustainable development purposes.⁸ CBAs typically share some common elements (Box 2).

Box 2: Community-based approaches

CBAs for environmental outcomes have been used for more than 40 years and draw on research and practice in other fields, such as public health, tourism, disaster management, education, social work, and international development.

The IEO report⁹ defined CBA projects as those "designed to apply a community-centered approach for natural resource management" and a CBA as "a modality of project design that transfers decision-making power – and often, financial and technical resources – directly to communities or natural resource users."

The International Union for Conservation of Nature, focusing more narrowly on conservation, defined community-based conservation as including *"natural resources or biodiversity protection by, for, and with the local community, taking into account drivers,*

² Child and Cooney, 2019.

³ Donaldson and Moscuzza, 2023.

⁴ Ratner and Stafford Smith, 2020.

⁵ Stafford Smith et al., 2021.

⁶ For example, Berdej et al., 2015; Chevallier, 2021; Coger et al., 2022; IUCN, 2019; Soanes et al., 2021; Welter and Jalonen, 2019.

⁷ Sherman and Ford 2014; GEF IEO, 2024.

⁸ Esmail et al., 2023; Henfrey et al., 2023; Pisor et al., 2022; Soanes et al., 2021.

⁹ GEF IEO, 2024.

institutional linkages at the local level, and multiple levels of organisation that impact and shape institutions at the local level."¹⁰

CBAs usually assume that the environment is inhabited by and is the legal or *de facto* property of communities and that working with community institutions, knowledge, and values is necessary for sustainable outcomes.

The intention and means of CBAs vary. At a minimum, CBAs require that communities be consulted about projects. At their full extent, CBAs devolve responsibilities to local communities to manage their environments.¹¹

CBAs typically seek to involve communities throughout the project cycle, including through shared approaches to decision-making; to strengthen local peoples' rights to resources; to include local and Indigenous Peoples' environmental knowledge; and to include women, youth, people with disabilities, and other marginalized groups. Other attributes of CBAs include allocating financial resources from projects to communities, fostering collective action within communities, building local capabilities, making projects accountable to communities, and building collaborative partnerships among communities and other actors.¹²

2 Benefits and challenges of community-based approaches

The evolution of research on CBAs for environmental outcomes has broadly been one of progressive learning from application. CBAs can effectively and efficiently deliver environmental outcomes but are rarely sufficient on their own. CBAs are most effective when they support the livelihoods and incomes of local communities. The impact and effectiveness of CBAs also increase when they enable "supra-local"¹³ organizations, such as municipal governments, to support local communities through the provision of services. Furthermore, reviews suggest that the success of CBAs tends to be inversely proportional to the degree of top-down control of projects and programs.¹⁴

2.1 Benefits

CBA projects have been shown to deliver environmental benefits, including enhanced conservation of corals, fish stocks, forests, and endangered species; reduced poaching of endangered species; improved soil nutrition, including improvements in soil carbon and nitrogen; and increased land cover.¹⁵ They have also helped reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, stabilize eroding shorelines, decrease pollution of groundwater, improve water supply and quality, and decrease waste generation.¹⁶ Socioeconomic co-benefits are key to these environmental outcomes and have been shown to include improved food security, better access to water and sanitation, strengthening of

¹⁰ Charles, 2021. The International Union for Conservation of Nature takes this definition from Berkes, 2007.

¹¹ Armitage et al., 2020; Coger et al., 2022; Soanes et al., 2021.

¹² Brown, 1999; Child and Cooney, 2019; Dumaru, 2010; Gruber, 2010; Soanes et al., 2021; TNC, 2022.

¹³ In the context of governance structures, the term "supra-local" refers to subnational authorities such as metropolitan and/or regional governments, planning agencies, and other institutional actors that can play a role in the governance of a given area and/or resources (Pagliarin, 2022).

¹⁴ Aheto et al., 2016; Galvin et al., 2018; Gruber, 2010; Kellert et al., 2000; Leach et al., 1999; Omukuti, 2020; Soanes et al., 2021.

¹⁵ Aswani et al., 2007; Brooks et al., 2013; Chevallier, 2021; Gutierrez et al., 2011; Nelson, 2010; Padgee et al., 2006; Porter-Bolland et al., 2011; Welter and Jalonen, 2019.

¹⁶ Esmail et al., 2023; Reid, 2016; Wynne et al., 2018.

property rights, and enhanced educational attainment. Other socioeconomic co-benefits include better human health, improved housing, introduction of new production systems and diversified livelihoods, and (modest) increases in income.¹⁷

Hence, CBAs can be a cost-effective means to achieve global environmental benefits (GEBs), and a lack of CBAs in some projects and initiatives can increase the risk of failure and, in some cases, negative outcomes.¹⁸ Furthermore, CBAs can be one way of operationalizing the GEF's "whole of society" approach, as they allow members of society – including public, private, and civil society actors – with varying interests and levels of capacity to collaboratively address complex environmental challenges.

However, CBAs are not meant to be a panacea for all issues involving communities and the environment.¹⁹ In some situations – for example, when dealing with rapid changes that require immediate action – other governance arrangements may be better suited.²⁰

2.2 Challenges

The available literature suggests that CBAs have their challenges. Projects employing CBAs are more prone to failure when those projects do not properly identify the affected communities, when the projects' environmental objectives are not aligned with the values and goals of communities, when the projects fail to deliver social and economic benefits, and when the project teams do not work with and strengthen local organizations (e.g. local governments, civil society organizations, businesses). Other factors that can lead to project failure include a lack of local champions within the community, lack of continuity of funding, insufficient involvement of marginalized groups (e.g. women, youth, people with disabilities), shifting of costs of action to local communities without adequate funding, and ignoring of powerful actors.²¹ Also, CBAs can take longer to implement than the duration of a typical project, and a truncated process may increase their risk of failure.²²

The literature also indicates that CBAs are most effective when legacies of past dispossessions, resource extraction, and inequalities within communities are acknowledged and redress options are considered; when there is investment in the capacity of local and intermediary institutions; when communities' rights to the environment are strengthened; and when there is transparency and accountability to communities.²³

A common challenge identified in the literature for CBAs is the issue of scaling and capacity.²⁴ Scaling up CBAs beyond a small number of local sites is often difficult because CBAs are by nature local and designed to work in a particular set of local circumstances. Successful scaling requires building capacity in local communities and among civil society, which can take longer than the usual length of a project (three to five years).

¹⁷ Celata and Sanna, 2019; Dumaru, 2010; Galvin et al., 2018; GEF IEO, 2024; Jarillo and Barnett, 2021; McNamara et al., 2020; Sherman and Ford, 2014; van Haren et al., 2019.

¹⁸ Dabelko et al., 2013; Dumaru, 2010.

¹⁹ Child and Cooney, 2019.

²⁰ Alexander et al., 2016; Berkes, 2004; Dodman and Mitlin, 2013; Biswal et al., 2023.

²¹ Child and Cooney, 2019.

²² Adeyanju et al., 2021; Armitage et al., 2020; Berkes, 2007; Henfrey et al., 2023; Jarillo and Barnett, 2021; McNamara et al., 2020; van Haren et al., 2019; Welter and Jalonen, 2019.

²³ Corrigan and Hay-Edie, 2013; Fariss et al., 2023; Soanes et al., 2021; TNC, 2022.

²⁴ Knight et al., 2016; Kothari et al., 2013; Mills et al., 2019.

3 When to use community-based approaches and guiding principles

The IEO's evaluation of CBAs in the GEF identified six dimensions of good practice for CBAs (Box 1). In addition, the literature²⁵ suggests some principles that could be used in deciding when a CBA is needed and in designing and implementing CBA projects. These principles are discussed in this section.

3.1 When to use a community-based approach

Where projects seek to effect change in ecosystems to which people have *de jure or de facto* rights, CBAs can be key to success. *Hence, CBAs should be considered in cases when community stewardship of local environments is key to achieving GEBs, when community practices put GEBs at risk and could be shifted to more sustainable practices, and when projects affect livelihoods*.

Examples of such GEF activities include projects intended to expand protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures; land use, land-use change, and forestry projects; and projects intended to reduce the negative impacts of the overuse of biological resources, such as overfishing. The use of CBAs is also likely to be applicable in projects executing activities in Indigenous lands and those being implemented by or in partnership with local communities for instance in the Global Biodiversity Framework.

When considering whether a CBA could be a possible solution, the following questions should be asked:

- 1. Can a CBA influence the behaviours of communities in ways that will both benefit local people and deliver the desired environmental outcomes?
- 2. Are the economic processes, existing livelihood activities, decision-making systems, and governance structures in which communities operate suitable for implementing CBAs successfully?
- 3. Are the communities ready and willing to participate in a CBA intervention, and do they have the capacity to do so?
- 4. Is there any information available about previous consultations and CBA-like processes in the identified communities?
- 5. Are there any barriers that may prevent or hinder community engagement and participation? Are any specific strategies needed to overcome them (e.g. livelihood interventions, incentives, enforcement tools)?
- 6. How can the CBA activities endure beyond the life of the project?

²⁵ For example, Berdej et al., 2015; Chevallier, 2021; Coger et al., 2022; IUCN, 2019; Soanes et al., 2021; Welter and Jalonen, 2019.

3.2 Guiding principles for project design and implementation

CBAs need to ensure the meaningful participation of local communities and explain how barriers to participation can be overcome.

3.2.1 Project design

During the design phase, projects should consider the following:

- 1. How all relevant stakeholders (including women, youth, Indigenous groups, and other marginalized groups, especially those people who claim rights to local resources) will be incorporated to ensure they have a voice and ownership.
- 2. The need for co-design and co-management arrangements involving relevant groups and institutional structures, where the powers, roles, and responsibilities of each partner are clearly delineated and appropriate arrangements for dispute resolution are in place.
- 3. The alignment of project goals with community needs that is, how the project will deliver benefits to communities as well as GEBs, and the appropriate interventions and incentives for achieving these benefits.
- 4. Provisions to incorporate Indigenous, traditional, and local knowledge systems and natural resource management practices to create an effective and contextually relevant set of interventions.
- 5. The strategy and plans to build the capacity of the targeted communities; invest in local institutions; and build fiduciary, program management, and risk management capabilities.

3.2.2 Project implementation

During implementation, the following questions can help assess whether projects incorporate essential CBA elements.

- 1. Does the project governance structure ensure equitable sharing of powers, functions, benefits, and funding with communities?
- 2. Does the process for monitoring, learning, and evaluation include local communities?
- 3. Does the project implementation strategy outline processes to overcome any gender-based inequalities and to ensure the continued involvement of youth, Indigenous Peoples, and other marginalized groups?
- 4. Does the project implementation strategy include plans for ensuring that the CBA activities endure beyond the life of the investments and facilitate possible scaling?
- 5. Are project activities improving local communities' access to information and technologies for the management of their ecosystems?

4 Further considerations

As the GEF moves to the design of GEF-9, it is encouraging to see greater attention to the involvement of IPLCs, women, youth, and a focus on policy coherence from local to global. All of these should enhance the role of CBAs in future portfolios. To address the point made by the IEO about the GEF project cycle being a challenge to CBA implementation in terms of both local stakeholders' involvement in design and inadequate project timeline, the GEF could consider augmenting the following:

Local stakeholder engagement consultation. Engaging key stakeholders is essential for good project design (see STAP's papers on multi-stakeholder dialogue²⁶ and enabling elements of good project design²⁷). In some circumstances, it may not be feasible to expect the full involvement of a community and a consultation during the project development stage. However, an inadequate consultation process may worsen local power imbalances, raise undue expectations about project deliverables, and lead to problems within and between communities and project implementers. If possible, project implementers should make use of existing processes or coalitions, ensuring that any gaps and existing power dynamics are addressed,²⁸ or offer to support the development of new civil society bodies or processes. It is also important to ensure that project proponents have the necessary capacity and know-how to implement CBAs effectively or have engaged other partners who have those skills and experience.

Capacity-building of local communities. CBAs may involve devolving the management of decisions, funding, and project activities to local communities. If the communities do not have the capacity for this devolution and or are inexperienced in fiduciary and project accountability, support may be required. Strong community-based organizations are usually able to fill these gaps in capacity and knowledge where they exist, thus improving the effectiveness of project implementation and reducing the fiduciary risks.²⁹ The GEF, as part of its "whole of society" approach, could work with countries to build and maintain the capacity of local organizations and strengthen governance networks that link local communities and institutions into a network of collective actors.³⁰ The Small Grants Programme and the Inclusive Conservation Initiative have experience in the devolution of responsibilities, which could be applied more widely in the GEF portfolio.

Project cycle. Building the capacity of local communities to support durable GEBs can take longer than the usual three- to five-year cycle of GEF funding for projects and therefore may require co-funding agreements with partners who are willing to provide longer-term funding to support local communities.

References

Adeyanju, S., O'Connor, A., Addoah, T., Bayala, E., Djoudi, H., Moombe, K., Reed, J., Ros-Tonen, M., Siangulube, F., Sikanwe, A., and Sunderland, T., 2021. Learning from community-based natural resource management (CBNRM) in Ghana and Zambia: Lessons for integrated landscape approaches. *International Forestry Review*, 23(3), pp. 273–297. Aheto, D.W., Kankam, S., Okyere, I., Mensah, E., Osman, A., Jonah, F.E., and Mensah, J.C., 2016. Community-based mangrove forest management: Implications for local livelihoods and coastal resource conservation along the Volta estuary catchment area of Ghana. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 127, pp. 43–54 Alexander, S.M., Andrachuk, M., and Armitage, D., 2016. Navigating governance networks for community-based conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(3), pp. 155–164.

²⁶ Ratner and Stafford Smith, 2020.

²⁷ Stafford Smith et al., 2021.

²⁸ Ratner and Stafford Smith, 2020.

²⁹ Armitage et al., 2020; Brooks et al., 2013.

³⁰ For example, Alexander et al., 2016.

Armitage, D., Mbatha, P., Muhl, E.K., Rice, W., and Sowman, M., 2020. Governance principles for community-centered conservation in the post-2020 global biodiversity framework. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 2(2), art. e160. Shankar, A.C. and Joshua, C. 2007. Integrating customary management into marine conservation. Biological Conservation. 140. 201-216. 10.1016/j.biocon.2007.08.008.

Berdej, S., Armitage, D., and Charles, A., 2015. *Governance and Community Conservation*. Community Conservation Research Network, Halifax, Canada.

Berkes, F., 2004. Rethinking community-based conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 18(3), pp. 621–630. Berkes, F., 2007. Community-based conservation in a globalized world. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(39), pp. 15188–15193.

Biswal, R., Sinclair, A.J., and Spaling, H. 2023. Moving to next generation community-based environmental assessment. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 41(5), pp. 416–427.

Brooks, J., Waylen, K.A., and Mulder, M.B., 2013. Assessing community-based conservation projects: A systematic review and multilevel analysis of attitudinal, behavioral, ecological, and economic outcomes. *Environmental Evidence*, 2, pp. 1–34. Brown, D., 1999. *Principles and Practice of Forest Co-management: Evidence from West-Central Africa*. Overseas Development Institute, London.

Celata, F., and Sanna, V.S., 2019. A multi-dimensional assessment of the environmental and socioeconomic performance of community-based sustainability initiatives in Europe. *Regional Environmental Change*, 19, pp. 939–952.

Chevallier, S., 2021. *Elevating the Role of Communities in Conservation Management Areas*. South African Institute of International Affairs, Johannesburg.

Child, B., and Cooney, R., 2019. *Local Commons for Global Benefits: Indigenous and Community-Based Management of Wild Species, Forests, and Drylands*. Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel to the Global Environment Facility, Washington, DC. Charles, A. (ed.), 2021. *Communities, Conservation and Livelihoods*. International Union for Conservation of Nature, Gland, Switzerland; Community Conservation Research Network, Halifax, Canada.

Coger, T., Dinshaw, A., Tye, S., Kratzer, B., Thazin Aung, M., Cunningham, E., Ramkissoon, C., Gupta, S., Bodrud-Doza, Md., Kararnallis, A., Mbewe, S., Granderson, A., Dolcemascolo, G., Tewary, A., Mirza, A., and Carthy, A., 2022. "Locally Led Adaptation: From Principles to Practice." Working paper. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.

Corrigan, C., and Hay-Edie, T., 2013. A Toolkit to Support Conservation by Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities: Building Capacity and Sharing Knowledge for Indigenous Peoples' and Community Conserved Territories and Areas (ICCAs). UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre, Cambridge, UK.

Dabelko, G.D., Herzer, L., Null, S., Parker, M., and Sticklor, R., 2013. *Backdraft: The Conflict Potential of Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation*. Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, Washington, DC.

Dodman, D., and Mitlin, D., 2013. Challenges for community-based adaptation: Discovering the potential for transformation. *Journal of International Development*, 25(5), pp. 640–659.

Donaldson J.S. and Moscuzza A., 2023. Alternative Livelihoods, A STAP background note. Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel to the Global Environment Facility. Washington, DC

Dumaru, P., 2010. Community-based adaptation: Enhancing community adaptive capacity in Druadrua Island, Fiji. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 1(5), pp. 751–763.

Esmail, N., McPherson, J.M., Abulu, L., Amend, T., Amit, R., Bhatia, S., Bikaba, D., Brichieri-Colombi, T.A., Brown, J., Buschman, V., and Fabinyi, M., 2023. What's on the horizon for community-based conservation? Emerging threats and opportunities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 38(7), pp. 666–680.

Fariss, B., DeMello, N., Powlen, K.A., Latimer, C.E., Masuda, Y., and Kennedy, C.M., 2023. Catalyzing success in communitybased conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 37, art. e13973.

Galvin, K.A., Beeton, T.A., and Luizza, M.W., 2018. African community-based conservation. *Ecology and Society*, 23(3), art. 39.

Global Environment Facility (GEF), 2012. Principles and Guidelines for Engagement with Indigenous Peoples. GEF, Washington, DC.

Global Environment Facility (GEF), 2017a. Guidelines on Gender Equality. GEF, Washington, DC.

Global Environment Facility (GEF), 2017b. Policy on Gender Equality. GEF, Washington, DC.

Global Environment Facility Independent Evaluation Office (GEF IEO), 2024. Evaluation of Community-Based Approaches at the GEF. Evaluation Report No 163, GEF IEO, Washington, DC.

Gruber, J.S., 2010. Key principles of community-based natural resource management: A synthesis and interpretation of identified effective approaches for managing the commons. *Environmental Management*, 45, pp. 52–66.

Gutiérrez, N., Hilborn, R. & Defeo, O. Leadership, social capital and incentives promote successful fisheries. *Nature* **470**, 386–389 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09689

Henfrey, T., Feola, G., Penha-Lopes, G., Sekulova, F., and Esteves, A.M., 2023. Rethinking the sustainable development goals: Learning with and from community-led initiatives. *Sustainable Development*, 31(1), pp. 211–222.

International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), 2019. *Guiding Principles for Community-Driven Conservation*. IUCN, Amsterdam.

Jarillo, S., and Barnett, J., 2021. Contingent communality and community-based adaptation to climate change: Insights from a Pacific rural atoll. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 87, pp. 137–145.

Kellert, S.R., Mehta, J.N., Ebbin, S.A., and Lichtenfeld, L.L., 2000. Community natural resource management: Promise, rhetoric, and reality. *Society & Natural Resources*, 13(8), pp. 705–715.

Knight, R., Brinkhurst, M., and Vogelsang, J., 2016. *Community Land Protection Facilitators Guide*. Namati, Washington, DC. Kothari, A., Camill, P., and Brown, J., 2013. Conservation as if people also mattered: Policy and practice of community-based conservation. *Conservation & Society*, 11(1), pp. 1–15.

Leach, M., Mearns, R., and Scoones, I., 1999. Environmental entitlements: Dynamics and institutions in community-based natural resource management. *World Development*, 27(2), pp. 225–247.

McNamara, K.E., Clissold, R., Westoby, R., Piggott-McKellar, A.E., Kumar, R., Clarke, T., Namoumou, F., Areki, F., Joseph, E., Warrick, O., and Nunn, P.D., 2020. An assessment of community-based adaptation initiatives in the Pacific Islands. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(7), pp. 628–639.

Mills, M., Bode, M., Mascia, M.B., Weeks, R., Gelcich, S., Dudley, N., and Possingham, H.P., 2019. How conservation initiatives go to scale. *Nature Sustainability*, 2(10), pp. 935–940.

Nelson, D. 2010. Adaptation and resilience: Responding to a changing climate. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change. 2. 113 - 120. 10.1002/wcc.91.

Omukuti, J., 2020. Country ownership of adaptation: Stakeholder influence or government control? *Geoforum*, 113, pp. 26–38.

Pagdee A, Kim Y-S, and Daugherty PJ. 2006. What makes community forest management successful: a meta-study from community forests throughout the world. Soc Nat Resour 19: 33–52.

Pagliarin, S., 2022. Supra-local spatial planning practices and suburban patterns in the Barcelona and Milan urban regions. *Land Use Policy*, 112 art. 105816.

Pisor, A.C., Basurto, X., Douglass, K.G., Mach, K.J., Ready, E., Tylianakis, J.M., Hazel, A., Kline, M.A., Kramer, K.L., Lansing, J.S., and Moritz, M., 2022. Effective climate change adaptation means supporting community autonomy. *Nature Climate Change*, 12(3), pp. 213–215.

Porter-Bolland, Luciana & Ellis, Edward & Guariguata, Manuel & Ruiz-Mallén, Isabel & Negrete-Yankelevich, Simoneta & Reyes-García, Victoria. (2012). Community Managed Forests and Forest Protected Areas: An Assessment of Their Conservation Effectiveness Across the Tropics. Forest Ecology and Management. 268. 6-17. 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.05.034. Ratner, B.D., and Stafford Smith, M., 2020. *Multi-stakeholder Dialogue for Transformational Change*. Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel to the Global Environment Facility, Washington, DC.

Reid, H. (2016) Ecosystem and community-based adaptation: learning from community-based resource management. Climate and Development, 8:1,4-9

Sherman, M.H., and Ford, J., 2014. Stakeholder engagement in adaptation interventions: An evaluation of projects in developing nations. *Climate Policy*, 14(3), pp. 417–441.

Soanes, M., Bahadur, A., Shakya, C., Smith, B., Patel, S., del Rio, C.R., Coger, T., Dinshaw, A., Patel, S., Huq, S., and Musa, M., 2021. *Principles for Locally Led Adaptation*. International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

Stafford Smith, M., Ali, S., Carr, E.R., Donaldson, J., Metternicht, G., Ratner, B.D., and Bierbaum, R., 2021. *Enabling Elements of Good Project Design: A Synthesis of STAP Guidance for GEF Project Investment*. Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel to the Global Environment Facility, Washington, DC.

The Nature Conservancy (TNC), 2022. The Voice, Choice, and Action Framework: A Conservation Practitioner's Guide to Indigenous and Community-Led Conservation, Version 2.0. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, VA.

van Haren, N., Fleiner, R., Liniger, H., and Harari, N., 2019. Contribution of community-based initiatives to the sustainable development goal of land degradation neutrality. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 94, pp. 211–219.

Welter, Z.E., and Jalonen, R., 2019. Forest Biodiversity Monitoring: Guide to Community-Based Approaches. Bioversity International, Rome.

Wynne, A.L., Nieves, P.M., Vulava, V.M., Qirko, H.N., and Callahan, T.J., 2018. A community-based approach to solid waste management for riverine and coastal resource sustainability in the Philippines. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 151, pp. 36–44.